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2022—Penalty 2023—Adjusted
amount penalty amount
U.S. Code citation Civil monetary penalty description
EP 716 _ 7 EP 716 8
(2022) (2023)
49 U.S.C. 14901(d)(1) ... | Minimum penalty for each violation of household good reg- 1,746 1,881
ulations, and for each day.
49 U.S.C. 14901(d)(2) ... | Minimum penalty for each instance of transportation of 17,473 18,826
household goods if broker provides estimate without car-
rier agreement.
49 U.S.C. 14901(d)(3) ... | Minimum penalty for each instance of transportation of 43,678 47,061
household goods without being registered.
49 U.S.C. 14901(e) ....... Minimum penalty for each violation of a transportation rule 3,494 3,765
49 U.S.C. 14901(e) . | Minimum penalty for each additional violation ...................... 8,736 9,413
49 U.S.C. 14903(@) ....... Maximum penalty for undercharge or overcharge of tariff 174,724 188,257
rate, for each violation.
49 U.S.C. 14904(a) ....... For first violation, rebates at less than the rate in effect ...... 349 376
49 U.S.C. 14904(a) . | For all subsequent violations 438 472
49 U.S.C. 14904(b)(1) ... | Maximum penalty for first violation for undercharges by 874 942
freight forwarders.
49 U.S.C. 14904(b)(1) ... | Maximum penalty for subsequent violations ...............c.cc...... 3,494 3,765
49 U.S.C. 14904(b)(2) ... | Maximum penalty for other first violations under section 874 942
13702.
49 U.S.C. 14904(b)(2) ... | Maximum penalty for subsequent violations . . 3,494 3,765
49 U.S.C. 14905(a) ....... Maximum penalty for each knowing violation of section 17,473 18,826
14103(a), and knowingly authorizing, consenting to, or
permitting a violation of section 14103(a) or (b).
49 U.S.C. 14906 .. Minimum penalty for first attempt to evade regulation ......... 2,392 2,577
49 U.S.C. 14906 .. Minimum amount for each subsequent attempt to evade 5,978 6,441
regulation.
49 U.S.C. 14907 ............ Maximum penalty for recordkeeping/reporting violations ..... 8,736 9,413
49 U.S.C. 14908(a)(2) ... | Maximum penalty for violation of section 14908(a)(1) .......... 3,494 3,765
49 U.S.C. 14910 ............ When another civil penalty is not specified under this part, 874 942
for each violation, for each day.
49 U.S.C. 14915(a)(1)- | Minimum penalty for holding a household goods shipment 13,885 14,960
2). hostage, for each day.
49 U.S.C. 14916(c)(1) ... | Maximum penalty for each knowing violation under section 11,957 12,883
14916(a) for unlawful brokerage activities.
Pipeline Carrier
49 U.S.C. 16101(a) ....... Maximum penalty for violation of this part, for each day ...... 8,736 9,413
49 U.S.C. 16101(b)(1), For each recordkeeping violation under section 15722, 874 942
(4). each day.
49 U.S.C. 16101(b)(2), For each inspection violation liable under section 15722, 174 187
(4). each day.
49 U.S.C. 16101(b)(3)- | For each reporting violation under section 15723, each day 174 187
(4).
49 U.S.C. 16103(a) ....... Maximum penalty for improper disclosure of information ..... 1,746 1,881

[81 FR 72543, Oct. 20, 2016, as amended at 82 FR 4797, Jan. 17, 2017; 83 FR 993, Jan. 9, 2018; 83
FR 67699, Dec. 31, 2018; 85 FR 839, Jan. 8, 2019; 86 FR 3027, Jan. 14, 2021; 87 FR 2354, Jan. 14,
2022; 88 FR 2269, Jan. 13, 2022]

Parts 1030-1039—Carriers Subject
to Part I, Interstate Commerce Act

PART 1033—CAR SERVICE

Sec.
1033.1 Car hire rates.
1033.2 Car service orders.

AUTHORITY: 49 U.S.C. 1321, 11121, 11122.
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§1033.1 Car hire rates.

(a) Definitions applicable to this sec-
tion:

(1) Car. A freight car bearing railroad
reporting marks, other than an ex-
cluded boxcar as defined in
§1039.14(c)(2) of this chapter whenever
it is owned or leased by any class III
carrier and bears a class III carrier’s
reporting marks.

(2) Car hire. Compensation to be paid
by a user to an owner for use of a car.
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Such compensation may include, but
need not be limited to, hourly and
mileage rates.

(3) Fixed rate car. Any car placed in
service or rebuilt prior to January 1,
1993 or for which there was a written
and binding contract to purchase,
build, or rebuild prior to July 1, 1992,
regardless of whether such car bore
railroad reporting marks prior to Janu-
ary 1, 1993, provided, however, that
until December 31, 1993, all cars shall
be deemed to be fixed rate cars.

(4) Market rate car. Any car that is
not a fixed rate car.

(5) Owmner. A rail carrier entitled to
receive car hire on cars bearing its re-
porting marks.

(6) Prescribed rates. The hourly and
mileage rates in effect on December 31,
1990, as published in Association of
American Railroads Circular No. OT-10
found in the information section of tar-
iff STB RER 6411-U known as the Offi-
cial Railway Equipment Register. This
information can be obtained at the As-
sociation of American Railroads or the
Board. Prescribed rates will be en-
hanced to reflect OT-37 surcharges and
Rule 88 rebuilds for work undertaken
and completed during 1991 and 1992, and
for rebuilding work for which there was
a written and binding contract prior to
July 1, 1992.

(7T) User. A rail carrier in possession
of a car of which it is not the owner.

(b) Fixed rate cars. Car hire for fixed
rate cars shall be determined as fol-
lows:

(1) Except as provided in paragraph
(b)(3) of this section, for a 10-year pe-
riod beginning January 1, 1993, the pre-
scribed rates shall continue to apply to
fixed rate cars without regard to the
aging of such cars subsequent to De-
cember 31, 1990. Prescribed car hire
rates shall not be increased for any ad-
ditions and betterments performed on
such cars after December 31, 1990. Any
OT-37 surcharge to prescribed rates for
work performed prior to January 1, 1993
shall expire upon the earlier of:

(i) The car becoming a market rate
car; or

(ii) The expiration date provided in
Association of American Railroads Cir-
cular No. OT-3"7.

(2) Upon termination of the 10-year
period specified in paragraph (b)(1) of
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this section, all fixed rate cars shall be
deemed to be market rate cars and
shall be governed by paragraph (c) of
this section.

(3) (i) During each calendar year be-
ginning January 1, 1994, a rail carrier
may voluntarily elect to designate up
to 10% of the cars in its fleet as of Jan-
uary 1, 1993 to be treated as market
rate cars for the purposes of this sec-
tion. The 10% limitation shall apply
each calendar year and shall be non-
cumulative. Cars designated to be
treated as market rate cars shall be
governed by paragraph (c) of this sec-
tion. Such election shall be effective
only in accordance with the following
provisions:

(A) An election shall be irrevocable
and binding as to the rail carrier mak-
ing the election and all users and sub-
sequent owners if:

(I) The rail carrier making the elec-
tion has legal title to the car; or

(2) The rail carrier making the elec-
tion does not have legal title to the car
but obtains written consent for such
election from the party holding legal
title; or

(3) The transaction pursuant to
which the party holding legal title to
the car has furnished the car to the rail
carrier making the election was en-
tered into after January 1, 1991.

(B) An election shall be irrevocable
and binding only for the term of the
transaction pursuant to which the car
was furnished to the rail carrier mak-
ing the election as to that rail carrier
and all users and subsequent owners if:

(I) That rail carrier does not have
legal title to the car and does not ob-
tain written consent or such election
from the party holding legal title;

(2) The transaction was entered into
prior to January 1, 1991; and

(3) The transaction does not provide
that the compensation to be paid to
the party furnishing the car is to be
based in whole or in part directly on
the car hire earnings of the car; pro-
vided, however, that if the rail carrier
making the election subsequently ob-
tains legal title to the car, such elec-
tion shall then be irrevocable and bind-
ing as to the rail carrier and all users
and subsequent owners.

(C) The party holding legal title to
the car may revoke an election subject
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to the 9provisions of paragraph
(b)(3)(1)(B) of this section only:

(I) At the time the transaction pur-
suant to which the car was furnished to
the rail carrier making the election is
first extended or renewed after Janu-
ary 1, 1991; or

(2) If such transaction is not ex-
tended or renewed, at the time such
transaction terminates.

If such election is so revoked, a rail
carrier may make a new election only
with the written consent of the party
holding legal title to the car, and such
election shall be irrevocable and bind-
ing as to the rail carrier making the
election and all users and subsequent
owners.

(ii) Nothing in paragraph (b)(3)(i) of
this section shall be construed to limit
the rights of parties to any transaction
to provide for the consent of any party
to an election made pursuant to para-
graph (b)(3)(i) of this section.

(c) Market rate cars. (1) Market rate
cars shall not be subject to prescribed
rates or to the provisions of 49 CFR
1039.14(c)(1) (i) and (ii) and (c)(4).

(2) (i) The Board shall not prescribe
car hire for market rate cars.

(ii) The Code of Car Hire Rules ref-
erenced in the Association of American
Railroads Car Service and Car Hire
Agreement provides that owners and
users party to that agreement shall re-
solve car hire disputes thereunder. The
Board may review allegations of abuse
of the car hire dispute resolution proc-
ess established under those rules.

(iii) Car hire disputes involving an
owner or user not a party to that
agreement may be resolved by the
Board.

(d) Car hire agreements. Rail carriers
are authorized to negotiate and enter
into agreements governing car hire.

(e) Effective date. This part shall take
effect on January 1, 1994.

[568 FR 60144, Nov. 15, 1993]

§1033.2 Car service orders.

Emergency and temporary service or-
ders are issued under this part but are
not carried in the Code of Federal Reg-
ulations.

[568 FR 60145, Nov. 15, 1993]
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§1034.1
PART 1034—ROUTING OF TRAFFIC

AUTHORITY: 49 U.S.C. 1321, 11123.

§1034.1 Temporary authority.

(a) Authority. Any railroad subject to
regulation under 49 U.S.C. 10501 may
reasonably divert or reroute traffic to
other carriers, if it is unable due to cir-
cumstances beyond its control prompt-
ly to transport traffic over a portion of
its lines. Traffic necessarily diverted
under this authority shall be rerouted
to preserve as much as possible the
participation and revenues of other
carriers provided in the original rout-
ing. This authority may be exercised
for no more than 30 days following the
day on which the rerouting begins. If a
carrier needs more than 30 days before
its disability or the disability of a re-
ceiving carrier is cured, it may auto-
matically extend its rerouting for addi-
tional 30-day periods. To extend the pe-
riod, it must submit a written or elec-
tronic notice to the Association of
American Railroads and the Board’s
Office of Public Assistance, Govern-
mental Affairs, and Compliance ex-
plaining why the rerouting is nec-
essary, when it began, when the dis-
ability occurred, why an extension is
necessary, the specific lines disabled,
the rerouting to be continued, which
shippers are affected, and any other
important facts.

(b) Concurrence by carriers. A railroad
rerouting traffic must receive the con-
currence of other railroads to which
the traffic will be diverted or rerouted,
before the rerouting or diversion be-
gins. A rerouting carrier must also
confirm the inability of a disabled re-
ceiving carrier to handle the traffic be-
fore rerouting that traffic. If the re-
ceiving carrier is no longer disabled, it
must accept the traffic according to
the routing originally designated.

(c) Notice by rerouting carrier. A re-
routing carrier must notify the Board’s
Office of Public Assistance, Govern-
mental Affairs, and Compliance, the
Association of American Railroads, Car
Service Division, as agent of all rail-
roads subscribing to car service and car
hire agreements, and the American
Short Line Railroad Association before
the rerouting or diversion begins. The
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